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_ GOVERNMENT: ~ Courthouse

=LRescription
Architectural Classification Materials
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
_19th & 20th ¢. REVIVALS: _ Classical Revival _ .
. Classical Revival foundation CONCRETE

walls __ STONE: limestone

roof CONCRETE
other METAL

Narrative Description
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POLITICS/GOVERNMENT =~~~
XIA  Property is associated with events that have made ARCHITECTURE
a significant contriibution to the broad patterns of
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[(1B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

XIc Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
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LE a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
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within the past 50 years. Bayard, John B. (architect)

Narrative Statement of Significance
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7. Narrative Description’

SUMMARY

* The Vermillion County courthouse (built 1923-1925)) is located in the county seat of Newport (pop. 557) in west-
central Indiana. The formerly agricultural and coal-mining county is sparsely populated, with a majority living in
small towns and working in nearby counties. Newport’s much-altered town square, where the courthouse is located,
never completely filled in with businesses. Streets intersect at the square’s corners, and two of these streets are now
regional connector roads. The courthouse square has walkways and is planted in lawn with young trees and other
recent landscaping as well as several non-contributing objects, The three-story courthouse is the county’s fourth, and
was designed by Halbert L. Fillinger and John B. Bayard, both practicing in southwest Indiana, in late Classical
Revival style. The building’s dimensions are approximately 92 by 120 feet. The building is constructed on a
reinforced concrete foundation, with concrete floors and roof and walls of structural brick faced with limestone. The
whole is supported and braced with a complex system of I-beams. The flat roof contains an art-glass skylight. The
exterior is strikingly symmetrical. All four elevations are nearly identical except in length. The upper two stories carry
a centered group of engaged, two-story Greek Corinthian columns. The columns, separated by windows, are placed in
a shallow recess flanked by flat-surfaced planes to create a three-part facade. The flat planes have three windows each,
casements with a fixed transom. The upper two stories rise above a rusticated ground-floor story, which contains the
building’s four identical doorways. Sparing ornament from the Classical and Renaissance vocabulary is centered on
and above these entries. The most striking detail is a clock in operating condition atop each parapet wall. Windows
have heavy replacement aluminum framing in a dark finish that creates a greater visual emphasis than the original

while reproducing its proportions.

Three entries from the exterior open only onto the ground floor. The fourth, or west, entry leads to a split-flight marble
staircase rising to the top floor. The courthouse interior is organized around a square light well defined by four
structural piers. A second set of four lighter piers, supporting segmental arches, create a colonnade between the light
well and the offices on the north side of the building. This scheme continues on all three floors, with the upper floors
having a closed balustrade around the light well and the ground floor an open lobby space. The south side, on ground
floor and top floor, is dominated by two large spaces containing an auditorium and a courtroom respectively. The
remaining space on all floors is subdivided into offices, meeting rooms, rest rooms, and miscellaneous chambers, most
having an exterior view. The capitals of piers and pilasters increase in decorative intricacy from ground floor through
first and second floors. Cornices throughout the interior consist of bands of Classical motifs probably formed from
pre-made panels. Interior surfaces achieve continuity through a marble-trimmed terrazzo floor and a marble wainscot,
above which the walls, piers, and pilasters are plastered and painted gray. Plaster ceilings are painted white. The
courtroom is paneled and trimmed in brown-finished oak with original judge’s bench and ornamented plaster ceilings.

The courthouse is in good condition inside and out, with minor deterioration. The most noticeable loss of integrity
occurs in the ground-floor auditorium, which has lost its theater seating and received a dropped ceiling (probably
reversible; photograph 12). The stage including proscenium is original. Otherwise, alterations are relatively few and

detract little from the historic ambience of the interior.

! Portions of the Sec. 7 and Sec. 8 narratives are paraphrased or quoted without attribution in two other courthouse nominations, Fountain and
Warren counties, submitted at the same time by the present author.
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SETTING AND SITE CHARACTERISTICS

Vermillion County, 257 square miles in extent, is bounded on the west by the Indiana-Illinois
border, on the north by Warren County, on the east by the Wabash River(across from
Fountain and Parke counties), and on the south by Vigo County (Fig. 7-1). The county’s name
is spelled with two L’s to distinguish it from adjacent Vermilion County, Illinois. The county
is unusually narrow, with one vertical row of five townships. Elevations above sea level in the
county range from about 660 to 480 feet. Terrain in the Newport vicinity includes the broad,
relatively level valley created by the Wabash, Vermilion, and Little Vermilion rivers. The
valley runs north to south on the county’s east side, diminishing in width south of the Little

Vermilion. West and south of this level terrain is a serrated topography of stream-created Fig. 7-1. Relative locations in
ridges and clefts. At the center of the county is a formerly prairie, or treeless, area, of thick e o lon County.

loess soil. Most of the county’s soil is loess over glacial till, with a band of alluvial and

glacial outwash soils along the Wabash River.? The Wabash, draining some two-thirds of
Indiana’s lands from northeast to southwest, determined part of the route of the Wabash and Erie Canal, of importance

-to commerce in the early 19th century.

Vermillion County, one of 92 in Indiana, has a population of 16,645. This number represents only 0.03 percent of
Indiana’s population and is expected to continue slowly decreasing. Over half the county’s population, or 58.4
percent, live in small incorporated settlements. Vermillion County lacks a direct freeway connection leading to the
Indiana capital of Indianapolis, and travelers or trucked freight must cover 10 to over 20 miles to connect to I-74 on
the north or I-70 on the south. Over half of employed Vermillion County residents work outside the county, with most
going to the nearby metropolitan areas of Terre Haute, Indiana, and Danville, Illinois. In the historically agricultural
county of Vermillion, today a leading source of employment at 13.2 per cent of jobs is manufacturing, including those
from an Eli Lilly Pharmaceuticals fac1hty The number of farm proprietors in 2005 was 254, compared to 972 at the

start of the Great Depression in 19302

The county seat, Newport (platted 1824), is centrally sited north to south within the county. Newport lies near the
eastern edge of the county, filling a narrow valley neck between the Little Vermilion on the north and a range of hills
on the south that rise about 100 feet in one-half mile. The town abuts, and is oriented to, the Little Vermilion. This
river joins the Wabash a few miles east of town. Newport is one of the county’s smaller towns, with a population of
557 compared to the largest settlement, Clinton, at 4,906. Newport’s town square, centered within the original town
plat, is a Shelbyville Square plan, with streets intersecting at corners. The square is bounded by Vermillion Street on
the west, Extension Street on the north, Main Street on the east, and Market Street on the south. (See site map
included with this document.) Main connects north and south to a local road, N350E, that bridges the Little
Vermillion River. Presently, the town’s regional connector is SR 63, from which a spur road enters the town going
eastward along Market Street. Newport is located via SR 63 some 30 miles north of Terre Haute, Indiana. At about an
equal distance is Danville, [llinois, to the north-northwest, reached by SR 63 and I-64. Indianapolis, the state capital,

2 Topographic detail is provided by the Newport Quadrangle, Indiana, 7.5 minute series topographic map included with this document. For
soils, see Donald P. Franzmeier, “Cradle of Life: Soils,” in Marion T. Jackson, The Natural Heritage of Indiana (Bloomington: Indiana

University Press, 1997), 45ff, map p 48.
3All population, employment, and agricultural counts derived from U. S. Bureau of the Census 2005 reports and the 1930 Census of

Agriculture.
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is 95 road miles away to the east.

Elevation of the Newport town square, location of the county courthouse, is about 500 feet. Facing the courthouse on
three sides, zero-lot-line facades are a mixture of historic buildings circa late 1800s, altered in varying degrees, and
modern intrusions. These blocks include one parking lot and one open green space. The south or Market Street block
is occupied by a modern building with setback and parking lot. The town square itself is somewhat cluttered. Non-
contributing modern objects include a small wooden building or decorative shed, a statue, a war memorial including
several flagpoles, and four replacement street lamps (photographs 1 and 5). Within the square, paved concrete walks
lead from the courthouse doors on all four sides to the outer or streetside sidewalk. The walks are level, except for a
south-side ramp for handicapped access. Steps connecting the walk to the sidewalk level vary in number because the
sidewalk elevation drops from south to north.

The courthouse measures approximately 92 by 120 feet in plan and 50 feet in elevation from ground level to top of
parapet. The building is symmetrically placed within the town square and is oriented with its long axis north-south
(photographs 1-5 and site map). The courthouse grounds, which are included in the nomination, extend to the street
edges on all four sides. The grounds contain one non-contributing structure and 7 non-contributing objects. The
exterior and interior of the courthouse building, unique in the county, are historically and architecturally significant
and contributing.

ARCHITECTURAL CHARACTER

Style and Structural Elements

Variations within the Beaux Arts tradition, drawing on both Greco-Roman and Renaissance features, were popular in
Indiana from the 1880s to about 1940.! “Beaux Arts” also describes a style that was used for Indiana courthouses and
other public buildings simultaneously with its near relations, Classical Revival or Neoclassical and Italian Revival
(also known as Renaissance Revival). Examples of these styles share such elements as domes, pediments, multi-
storied columns in a Classical order, round-topped arches, and rusticated stone finishes. The difference among the
styles might better be described in terms of overall effect rather than design elements—Beaux Arts exuberance, its
multiplicity of features and ornament on any one building; Italian Revival emphasis on Renaissance elements
(quoining, recessed columns, small upper-story windows); Classical Revival restraint, wherein a limited number of
features from the tradition’s vocabulary are developed in any one building.

The Vermillion County courthouse was constructed 1923-1925. Engineer Halbert F. Fillinger and architect John F.
Bayard, both local to the region, collaborated in designing the building. It is a simply styled but structurally complex
late example of the Classical Revival as seen in several Indiana courthouses of the 1920s. The courthouse rests on a
reinforced concrete foundation of continuous footing with piers. Its framework combines self-supporting brick
exterior walls with a system of vertical and horizontal I-beams (Fig. 7-2).

IStylistic discussion from John C. Poppeliers et al, What Style Is It?, 66-71.
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8. Narrative Statement Of Significance

SUMMARY

The Vermillion County courthouse is significant at a local level in the categories of Architecture and Politics /
Government under Criteria A and C. The courthouse is unique within the county in history, architecture, and function.
The building, in Newport, Indiana, was built 1923-1925. The years from World War I through the early 1920s were a
period of prosperity for the eounty. The economy was based on rich resources of agricultural soil and on coal deposits.
The county seat of Newport, platted in 1824, remained a small farm-service center and never achieved a population
comparable to the coal-mining town of Clinton. Rivalry between the two towns for location of the county seat
persisted until 1919, when a political compromise awarded the county hospital to Clinton. In 1923, after three -
previous courthouses had burned down, the present one was constructed and is still in use. John B. Bayard, the
associate architect on the project, was a noted practitioner in his birthplace of Vincennes, Indiana, and was soon to
design the Sullivan County Courthouse (1926).

During the first decades of a county’s existence, in a “homesteading™ state like Indiana, the courthouse served as a
symbol of permanence as well as the most effective governmental unit for citizens on a day-to-day basis. From about
1880 through the first decade of the 1900s, prosperous counties apparently perceived an advantage in building “show
courthouses” whose cost in 2005 dollars could run to $154 million (Allen County). However, such gestures ended as
World War I approached. Beaux Arts styling, in such forms as Classical Revival and Renaissance Revival, proved to
be suited not only to grandeur but to simplification—the rather boxy public buildings of the 1920s and on, usually
lacking complex footprints, visible domes, dominant pediments, or monumental columns. Advancing building
technologies—such as reinforced concrete, steel structural members, and concrete or gypsum blocks—helped achieve
designs in the Beaux Arts tradition. However, as in the Vermillion courthouse, technology could also help retain the
appearance of Classicism. Pneumatic stone-carving tools and pre-formed cast plaster produced intricate details, and
stone veneer lent the weighty dignity of worked stone construction without its prohibitive cost.

Surprisingly, 84 historic courthouses still stand today, most in use, in Indiana’s 92 counties. Their greatest threat may
be context that has been lost or will be lost as small-town downtowns fail. In such cases, the courthouse sits stranded,
deprived of the architectural surroundings and social context that reinforced its intended visual and symbolic

prominence.
SELECTED HISTORICAL BACKGROUND, PREHISTORY TO 1923

The economy and politics of Vermillion County in the early 1900s were still shaped in large part by the county’s
geological prehistory.' The county’s tax base came from coal mining and agriculture. Seams of coal were laid down

! Robert C. Howe, “Of Time, Rocks, and Ancient Life,” 3-13; Wilton N. Melhorn, “Indiana on Ice,” 16-21; and Donald P. Franzmeier,
“Cradle of Life: Soils,” in Marion T. Jackson, The Natural Heritage of Indiana (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1997), 45ff, map p
48; “Distribution of Coal,” CO-08 of an e-text, Our Hoosier State Beneath Us, produced by the University of Indiana Libraries. Online at
http://www.indiana.edu/~librcsd/etext/hoosier/CO-08.html; accessed June 2007. For full reference, see
http://www.indiana.edu/~librcsd/etext/hoosier/index.html; Indiana Coal Council, “Indiana Mining History,” in Coal in Indiana, undated
online document at http://www.indianacoal.com/doc/Coal%20in%20Indiana.pdf; accessed June 2007.
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during the Pennsylvanian Period circa 325 to 286 million years ago, in “coal swamps” from a former inland sea. This
bituminous or soft coal was chiefly produced from decayed vegetation compressed by the weight of later sedimentary
deposits. Coal deposits in most of Indiana have disappeared through erosion, but the seam running from northwest to
southeast through western Indiana, including southern Vermillion County, remains viable. The area centering on
Clinton, Vermillion County, produced coal through underground mining from the 1830s through the 1920s, by which
time strip mining replaced underground mining. Millions of years later, fertile soils began to develop through the
grinding action of pre-Wisconsonian and Wisconsonian glaciers some 700,000 years ago. Outwash or ineltwater from
a later glacial lobe, about 20,000 years ago, contributed to forming the Wabash River. Meltwater drainways like the
Wabash created valleys of glacial till. Near these valleys, winds deposited thick layers of loess, or windblown
particles of silt and clay. Though highly susceptible to erosion, loess is agriculturally fertile. Its presence in Vermillion
County made the county’s more level areas centers of grain-growing, while areas of more sloping topography were
used as pasture or orchards.

Vermillion County has small areas of prairie soil, also deep and fertile. These areas, and others along the Indiana-
Illinois border extending almost the length of the state, represent a prairie-forest margin whose extent and location
have shifted over millenia. The shift partly reflects climate change between 8,000 and 3,000, during which drier and
warmer periods expanded the prairie temporarily. Both lightning strikes and burning by Indians (to preserve the
habitat of hunted species such as buffalo, prairie chicken, other birds, reptiles, and small mammals) also kept the
prairie from turning to forest. As Indians were driven out of Indiana, European-American market hunters took over.
The earliest white homesteaders did not farm prairies, believing them to be agriculturally inferior because they did not
support the growth of forests. This preconceptlon was overcome in the years after 1840, when John Deere developed
the breaking plow with a chilled steel moldboard.?

Vermillion County was created by the Indiana legislature in 1824. Formation of the county followed a pattern in
which Euro-American settlers, in moving westward and northward, initially defined extremely large counties with
vague boundaries on the frontier edge, then subdivided these counties. The Vermillion County enabling act first
awarded the county commissioners authority as far north as the shores of Lake Michigan. Previous to its
independence, Vermillion County was part of Vigo County to the south, then part of Parke County when the latter was
carved from Vigo’s northern side. The appointed commissioners for Vermillion, before elected commissioners
assumed their posts, chose the site of Newport as the county seat. Newport was not yet perceived as a central location
in the county. Reasons for its choice may have been political, perhaps even the product of bribery from the site’s

landowners.’

Ultimately, Newport scarcely developed.* Its population may never have exceeded 750, compared to 557 in 2005. The
town attracted relatively few enterprises—by 1927, a clay-products manufactory, a grain elevator, a sawmill, a lumber
company, and a small coal mine. (All of these were served by a railroad connection, the Chicago and Eastern Illinois,

2 Marion T. Jackson, “Perspective: The Indiana That Was,” in Jackson, The Natural Heritage of Indiana, xxiii-Xiv.

3 Harold L. O’Donnell, Newport and Vermillion Township 1824-1924 (reprinted 2006 by the Vermillion County Historical Commission), 20;

James A. Schellenberg, Conflict Between Communities : American County Seat Wars (New York: Paragon House, 1987).

4 Data in the following discussion are taken from the Sanborn Fire Insurance Company maps for Newport in 1905, 1910, and 1927, and for
Clinton in 1886, 1915, 1921, and 1921 as revised in 1939.
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beginning in the 1880s to 1890s.) Clearly, the town’s main purpose was to serve as the seat of administration for
county government, whose main functions are the keeping of property records, the collection of taxes, the
administration of funds, and the upholding of civil and criminal law through the court system. Newport, as a service
center for agriculturalists, developed an economic and political rival in the coal-mining town of Clinton at the south
end of the county. Clinton was and is the county’s largest town, with a peak population of 15,000 circa 1921, down to
4,906 in 1925. Clinton’s leadership tried repeatedly to move the county seat to Clinton Tablo 8.1

from New.port In 1919, a bill i in the state leglsla:cure endorsmg.thls move came very CONSTRUCTION COSTS,

near to being passed. The reaction of the county’s northern residents included proposals | VERMILLION COUNTY

that Warren or Fountain county take over the northern part of Vermillion. By 1921, COURTHOUSE

however, Clinton recelved the new county hospital and agreed to cease efforts to

acquire the county seat.’ Building . ... . $262,520
Wiring . ....... $5,890

i t....$60,000
On May 27, 1923, the existing courthouse burned after being struck by lightning at 1:30 gﬂ‘;ﬁ,‘i’;ﬁ;‘n L i$$8’000

a.m. This fire might be regarded as suspicious, had not Newport and Clinton settled Heating and

their competition. Moreover, as late as 1927, Newport had no fire department and no Plumbing . . . $18,428
water supply other than individual wells and springs. After the rudimentary first Landscaping . . . $3,000
courthouse of 1824, fire destroyed all three courthouses (built 1832, 1845, and 1867 TOTAL.... §357,838
[with an addition in 1903]) prior to the present one. Shortly after the 1923 fire, the Source: Lewis, “Indiana County
county commissioners hired a Vermillion County resident, licensed engineer Halbert F. | Has Fine Official Home.”
Fillinger of Dana, to act as “supervising architect” for a replacement courthouse.

BUILDING THE VERMILLION COUNTY COURTHOUSE, 1923-1925

Vermillion’s county auditor of the mid-1920s, in a self-laudatory article for American Public Official Magazine, wrote
that “Attorneys and citizens accompanied the commissioners and Mr. Fillinger on visits to several counties to inspect
public buildings and consult officials.”® Following this trip and discussion of the design, the commissioners hired
architect John B. Bayard of Vincennes as the “associate architect” who would draw plans and write specifications. H.
L. Fillinger participated in this process and acted as construction supervisor. Others employed included general
contractor Jasper N. Good and Company of Columbus, Indiana; marble contractor F. E. Gates Marble and Tile
Company of Indianapolis; and interior decorators William G. Andrews Decorative Company of Chicago. Two firms
designed and installed wooden furniture and fittings, the Monroe Benbrock Company and the American Seating
Company, both of Chicago. The grounds around the leveled site were landscaped with trees, shrubs, and grass of
unknown species. The general contract was awarded December 29, 1923, and the building was dedicated June 11,
1925. The final cost of the building was $357,838 (Table 8-1). Most of the amount was financed through a $307,000
bond issue at 5 percent, maturing in 20 years. The county sold the bonds to an Indianapolis brokerage, Breed, Elliott,

and Harrison for a premium of $9,827.

Little is known of Halbert L. Fillinger, but John B. Bayard (1876?-1933) was a well known and successful architect.

3 O’Donnell, Newport and Vermillion Township 1824-1924, 28.
¢ For this and following information, see Mortimer Lewis, “Indiana County Has Fine Official Home,” American Public Official Magazine,
undated ephemera c. 1925, 9-11. Archived in Jay C. Bixby collection, Drawings and Documents Archive, College of Architecture and
Planning, Ball State University, Muncie IN. Also see O’Donnell, Newport and Vermillion Township 1824-1924, 29.
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He was a native and lifelong resident of Vincennes, Indiana, who served in the Spanish-American War and was buried
with military honors. As an architect, Bayard specialized in commercial and public buildings. His more important
contracts in Vincennes included the First National Bank (1913), Vincennes Public Library (1919), Sacred Heart
Church (date unknown), Pantheon Theater (1924), Gibault High School (1926), and LaSalle School (1927). He also
oversaw remodeling of the Knox County Courthouse (1926) and supervised construction of the George Rogers Clark
Memorial, designed by Frederick Hirons. Outside the county, Bayard designed and supervised construction of the
Sullivan County Courthouse (in Sullivan, Indiana, 1926) as well as drawing the plans for the Vermillion courthouse.
Bayard’s death was a suicide, attributed to worry over his health. He is buried in Mt. Calvary Cemetery.” Like the
majority of architects of his time, Bayard was not formally trained. He attended Vincennes University and graduated
from Purdue University as an electrical engineer. It is not known how he came to practice as an architect. As the son
of a banker, Bayard may have been able to tour European cities and view Renaissance and Classical models, but high-
quality text and photographic documentation of important European examples would also have been available in his

time.

Bayard and Fillinger were praised for the technical quality of their design for the Vermillion Courthouse. When the
examiner for the Indiana State Board of Accounts approved the plans, he wrote: “These are the most extensive set of
plans ever brought to this office [in my ten years’ experience]. It is the best arranged courthouse I ever saw and more
complete in detail. It will make a model courthouse. The specific specifications on steel work I like. The plans and
specifications safeguard the interest of the people and are drawn and written so that any contractor can understand
them. You have twenty-three exhibits of blueprints here while ordinarily architects only bring in 7 or 8 pages.”®

VERMILLION COUNTY’S COURTHOUSE IN HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL PERSPECTIVE

Early courthouses in homesteading states like Indiana were symbolic of a permanence that was by no means
guaranteed. Counties were the glue that held together otherwise disconnected hamlets and farmsteads on the frontier.
Formation of counties, mandated by Indiana’s first constitution (1816), conferred political and legal existence by
recording land titles. County government had the power to settle disputes, keep a degree of public order, and collect
revenues (however scanty) for public projects. The election of county-wide officials brought continuity where local
settlements failed, at the same time underlining the dearly-held principle of self-governance. Indiana adopted a version
of Pennsylvania’s county system administered by county commissioners and divided into townships. Commissioners
initially appointed a clerk, circuit court ofﬁcers sheriff, tax collector, recorder and other officials, although most of

these offices would soon be subject to election.’

7 Brian Spangle, Columnist, “John B. Bayard Di'es,” Vincennes Sun-Commercial, April 23, 2005. Clipping courtesy of Brian Spangle, Knox
County Public Library. Also see “John B. Bayard Shoots Self To Death At Home,” Vincennes Sun-Commercial, April 27, 1933, no author
named. ,

8 «Model Set of Plans.” Undated newspaper article, probably from the Newport Hoosier State or Vincennes Sun-Commercial. Clipping in Jay
C Bixby collection, Drawings and Documents Archive, College of Architecture and Planning, Ball State University, Muncie IN.

% National Association Of Counties, “The History of County Government, Part I.” Online at http://www.naco.org/Content/NavigationMenu/

About_Counties/History_of County Government/Default983.htm, accessed June 20, 2007; O’Donnell, Newport and Vermillion Township
1824-1924, 20-29. Also see “Vermillion County’s New Courthouse,” Newport Hoosier State, January 16, 1924.
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different architects, create a more similar effect than the Vermillion and Sullivan courthouses, both by John Bayard.
Bayard’s two buildings, both three stories high, are very different in size, with Vermillion at about 92 by 120 feet and
Sullivan some 160 by 160 feet without the projecting planes. However, Bayard’s Vermillion and Sullivan elevations
are similarly divided into three sections, with six columns grouped at the center above a rusticated ground floor (only
four columns on the Vermillion’s side elevations). In both buildings, the columns are attached and set within a recess,
but the Sullivan columns with Composite capitals are placed within a slightly projecting plane. On either side of the
recess, the plane continues to the width of one more bay. In this way, one of the three windows flanking each recess
on the upper floors is emphasized, as well as decorated with swags or an ornamented header. This emphasis continues
with swagging on the closed balustrade at roofline, and the projection can be seen in Figure 7-3 above. The Vermillion
ground-floor windows are segmentally arched; those of the Sullivan ground floor are square-headed. The Vermillion
ground-floor entries are topped by a balconet with supporting decorative brackets; Sullivan’s entries project slightly
and are topped with a pediment. On the interior, the Sullivan courthouse is arranged around a central rotunda below a
low, glassed dome not visible over the parapet. This arrangement contrasts with the square light well of the Vermillion
interior. Instead of square columns above the ground-floor interior, the Sullivan interior has round marble columns set
on square bases. The terrazzo floor within the rotunda is decorated by a compass rose in two shades of marble. Both
courthouses continue the interior motifs of white marble wainscot and segmental arches, but the light-well railings and
split stairs-in the Sullivan courthouse are railed with wood supported by iron balusters rather than with marble and a
closed baluster, as in the Vermillion courthouse. The Sullivan and Vermillion circuit courtrooms are quite similar in
appearance though different in the details of ornamental elements. The Sullivan courthouse has a second courtroom,
that of the superior court, which has suffered a dropped acoustical ceiling and other alterations.

The source of a near-formulaic design approach for these 1920s courthouses is difficult to determine fully without
further research into the relationships of individual architects and county commissioners. However, the differences
seem to have been largely a matter of cost. Massing of the building within the Beaux Arts tradition was essentially
rectangular, occasionally square, and the design details were based on specific historical models. The cost-saving
building and decorating technologies developed around 1900 or earlier lent themselves to easy production of this well-
defined Classical aesthetic. At the same time, new technology divorced Classicism from the origins of its aesthetic,
since the appearance of original Classical and Renaissance architecture sprang from the construction logic of
structural masonry. This bit of inauthenticity could hardly have been a concern. For Indiana courthouses of the early
20th century, the dignity of Classicism could be evoked within a building mass containing fewer or more inflections
of plane, and details in lesser or greater profusion, depending on the county’s budget.

A comprehensive study of the financial history of county government in these years, and its decision-making
processes, has yet to be made. But the style preferences and technological innovations discussed above provide clues
to the lesser price of Indiana’s pre-Depression courthouses. Relative costs for courthouses over time can be estimated
by the roundabout method of converting the price of construction to 2005 dollars (the latest available date), then
dividing that amount by the population of the county at the time the courthouse was constructed. This yields a per-
capita cost for purposes of comparison only, since the method of financing all of the courthouses isn’t known. When
amounts are equalized as 2005 dollars, the median price per capita of the 16 courthouses constructed 1903-1916 was
about one-third higher than that of the 6 courthouses constructed after World War I: $1,090.33 versus $703.79.
Though not the most expensive, the last price over $1,000 per capita was $1,202 for Carroll County’s courthouse in
1916. It appears that the most expensive per capita Indiana courthouse constructed until after World War II was
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Vanderburgh (Evansville, 1967), Lake (Crown Point, 1971), and Madison ( Anderson, 1972). The construction
subsidies of urban renewal doubtless played a part, as did preservation activism or the lack of it.

More remarkable is the continued existence of 84 historic courthouses in Indiana. Certain counties, such as Orange
(Paoli, 1844) and Monroe (Bloomington, 1907), have adopted the strategy of placing some functions of expanding
government in separate, modern buildings near the courthouse. Other counties have small and often declining
populations combined with an increased number of small incorporated entities that reduce the county tax base.
Vermillion County fell into this category in 1957 and still does so today. Funds for drastic change may be lacking, but
also the historic courthouse is basically adequate, having 20th century technology that has been relatively easy to
update with air conditioning and supplemental wiring. The courthouse is also easy to maintain compared to
courthouses with extensive painted exterior trim, and complicated footprints creating complicated foundations and

roofs.

The most serious threat to Vermillion’s and other quasi-rural courthouses may be loss of context. The town of
Newport, selected as Vermillion’s county seat in 1824, has a population of fewer than 600 today and a town square
that never filled with the expected zero-lot-line buildings. The historic buildings that are present have been altered,
detracting further from the courthouse’s dignity as a perceivable center of community. This unfortunate circumstance
is illustrated within the courthouse as well. The lack of historical integrity of the building’s main public space, the
auditorium, contrasts with the excellent integrity of the work spaces and lobbies originally provided. The auditorium’s
stage has become a storage area, and the lower or seating level is now used principally for gatherings of courthouse
officials and employees rather than the local or county community.



NPS Form 10-900-a  (8-86) OMB No. 1024-0018  (Expires 1-31-2009)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register Of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section _9___ Page__ 24 Vermillion County Courthouse, Vermillion County, Indiana

9. Major Bibliographical References
WRITTEN PUBLICATIONS AND WEBSITES

“Distribution of Coal,” CO-08 of an unauthored e-text, Our Hoosier State Beneath Us, produced by the University of
Indiana Libraries. Online at http://www.indiana.edu/~librcsd/etext/hoosier/CO-08.html; accessed June 2007. Also see

http://www.indiana.edu/~librcsd/etext/hoosier/index.html.

Donald P. Franzmeier, “Cradle of Life: Soils,” in Marion T. Jackson, The Natural Heritage of Indiana (Bloomington:
Indiana University Press, 1997), 45-57.

Historic Landmarks Foundation of Indiana, Vermillion County: Interim Report. Indianapolis: Historic Landmarks
Foundation of Indiana, 2000.

Robert C. Howe, “Of Time, Rocks, and Ancient Life,” in Marion T. Jackson, The Natural Heritage of Indiana
(Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1997), 3-13.

- Indiana Coal Council, “Indiana Mining History,” in Coal in Indiana, undated online document at
http://www.indianacoal.com/doc/Coal%20in%20Indiana.pdf; accessed June 2007.

Marion T. Jackson, “Perspective: The Indiana That Was,” in Jackson, The Natural Heritage of Indiana, Indiana
(Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1997), xxiii-xiv.

“John B. Bayard Shoots Self To Death At Home,” Vincennes Sun-Commercial, April 27, 1933. Unauthored article
archived in Jay C. Bixby collection, Drawings and Documents Archive, College of Architecture and Planning, Ball

State University, Muncie IN.

Mortimer Lewis, “Indiana County Has Fine Official Home,” American Public Official Magazine, undated clipping c.
1925, 9-11. Archived in Jay C. Bixby collection, Drawings and Documents Archive, College of Architecture and

Planning, Ball State University, Muncie IN.

Wilton N. Melhorn, “Indiana on Ice,” in Marion T. Jackson, The Natural Heritage of Indiana (Bloomington: Indiana
University Press, 1997), 16-21.

“Model Set of Plans,” undated, unauthored clipping c. 1924, probably from the Newport Hoosier State. Unauthored
article archived in Jay C. Bixby collection, Drawings and Documents Archive, College of Architecture and Planning,

Ball State University, Muncie IN.

National Association Of Counties, “The History of County Government, Part I.” Online at
~ http://www.naco.org/Content/NavigationMenu/ About_Counties/History of County Government/Default983.htm,

accessed June 20, 2007.




NPS Form 10-900-a  (8-86) OMB No. 1024—0018 (Expires 1-31-2009)

United States Department of the lnterlor
National Park Service

_National Register Of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section__9_ Page_ 25__ Vermillion County Courthouse, Vermillion County, Indiana

Harold L. O’Donnell, Newport and Vermillion Township 1824-1924, no pubhcatlon data; repnnted 2006 by the
Vermillion County Historical Comm1ss1on, Newport, Indiana.

John C. Poppeliers, S. Allen Chambers, Jr., and Nancy B. Schwartz, What Style Is It? A Guide to Amerlcan
Architecture. Washmgton DC: The Preservation Press, 1983.

James A. Schellenberg, Conflict Between Communities . American County Seat Wars. New York: Paragon House,
1987. '

“Six Ways to Compﬁte the Relative Value of a U.S. Dollar Amount, 1790 — 2005,” unauthored article online at
MeasuringWorth.com, http://www. measurmgworth com/calculators/uscompare/mdex php, accessed June 2007.

Brian Spangle, Columnist, “John B. Bayard Dies,” Vincennes Sun-Commerczal April 23, 2005. Clipping courtesy of
Brian Spangle, Knox County Public Library, Vincennes, Indiana.

“Vermillion County’s New Courthouse,” Newport Hoosier State, January 16, 1924. Unauthored article archived in
Jay C. Bixby collection, Drawings and Documents Archive, College of Architecture and Planning, Ball State

University, Muncie IN.
U. S. Bureau of the Census, Summary Reports, 2005, and Census of Agriculture, 1930.

Cory Walker, “The 92 Indlana Courthouses,” online at http://www.angelfire. com/m4/1nd1anacouﬁhouses accessed at
various times April-July 2007.

Robin Wyatt, “British Victorian,” and “Edwardian, 1901-1914,” in Stephen Calloway and Elizabeth Cromley, eds,
The Elements of Style: A Practical Encyclopedia of Interior Architectural Details, from 1485 to the Present. New
York: Simon & Schuster, 1996.

MAPS AND DRAWINGS

Plans for the Vermillion County Courthouse, Job. No. 432, Nov. 1923; associated architects John B. Bayard,
Vincennnes, Indiana, and H. L. Fillinger, Dana, Indiana. Set of up to 23 sheets archived in the office of the County

Surveyor, County Courthouse, Newport, Indiana.

Sanborn Fire Insurance Company, maps for Indiana municipalities: Newport, 1905, 1910, and 1927, Clinton, 1886,
1915, 1921, and 1921 as revised in 1939; Sullivan, 1927; and Corydon, 1927.



NPS Form 10-900-a  (8-86) C OMB No. 1024-0018  (Expires 1-31-2009)

United States Departme'nt of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register Of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section __10___ Page _ 26 ﬂ Vermillion County Courthouse, Vérmillion County, Indiana

10. Geographical Data
- VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The boundary of the Vermillion County Courthouse is defined as part of the W /2 of the SW % Section 26, T17 R9.
The area of the courthouse square was platted without a parcel number, but extends to the edge of the street on all
sides, creating a parcel measuring approximately 176 feet along the south curb of Extension Street on the north, 234
feet along the west curb of Main Street on the east, 172 feet along the north curb of Market Street on the south, and
233 feet along the east curb of Vermillion Street on the west.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundary includes the courthouse building and its grounds which have formed parts of an entity throughout the
history of Newport as the Vermllhon County seat.
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Photographs
Photo Log_IN_VermillionCounty_Courthouse

Twelve photographic views are being submitted. Photos are in digital format and enclosed with the nomination
document on a labeled compact disc (2 copies submitted). The numbered list below includes the digital TIF file for
each photograph. The list also includes the date, camera direction, and description of view. List number is the one
referred to on site map and in text portions of document.

Location for all photos:
Vermillion County Courthouse
Newport, Indiana

1. IN_VermillionCounty Courthousel.tif
' 5/23/07 East elevation, looking WNW
photographed by Eliza Steelwater

2. IN_VermillionCounty Courthouse2.tif
5/23/07 East elevation entry detail, looking WNW
photographed by Eliza Steelwater

3. IN_VemillionCounty Courthouse3.tif
" 5/22/07 South elevation clock, entablature, and capital detail, looking NN'W
(zoomed in from same camera location as #4 below)
photographed by Eliza Steelwater

4. IN_VermillionCounty _Courthouse4.tif
5/22/07 South elevation, looking NNW
photographed by Eliza Steelwater

5. IN_VermillionCounty_Courthouse5.tif
5/22/07 (L-R) North and West elevations, looking SE
photographed by Eliza Steelwater

6. IN_VermillionCounty Courthouse®6.tif
4/21/07 Interior landing between 1st and 2nd floors, looking E
photographed by Eliza Steelwater

7. IN_VermillionCounty_Courthouse7.tif
4/21/07 Judge’s bench and jury box, 2nd floor, looking E
photographed by Eliza Steelwater
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8. IN_VermillionCounty_Courthouse8.tif
4/21/07 2nd floor, colonnade and offices, looking NE
photographed by Eliza Steelwater

9. IN_VermillionCounty Courthouse9.tif
4/21/07, 2nd floor, light well in roof, looking SE
photographed by Eliza Steelwater

10. IN_VermillionCounty Courthousel0.tif
4/21/07, 1st floor, pier and closed balustrade of light well, looking SW

photographed by Eliza Steelwater

11. IN_VermillionCounty Courthousel1.tif
4/21/07, 1st floor, auditor’s office with door closmg off former corridor, looking S
photographed by Eliza Steelwater

12. IN_VermillionCounty _Courthouse12.tif
6/25/07, ground floor, auditorium partially below ground level, looking WSW
photographed by Tommy Kleckner
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